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The Cult of Inghin Bhaoith and the Church of Killinaboy
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The old church at Killinaboy with its distinctive double-armed cross on the western gable occupies a prominent position overlooking a bend on the Fergus beside the road from Corofin to Kilfenora. This road approximates to the ancient 'Bohernamacrigh' - the road of the king's sons -mentioned in the Wars of Turlough and The Annals of the Four Masters^. The ruins visible today are those of a later superimposition on the old monastic church of Inghin Bhaoith(2) whose termon lands were absorbed into the diocesan parish of Killinaboy in the church reforms of the twelfth century. Relics of Killinaboy's monastic past still survive in the shape of the unique Tau Cross on Slieveinnawee and the stump of the round tower beside the church. Three holy wells dedicated to Inghin Bhaoith occur in the parish: at Killinaboy, Anneville and Ballard. The well at Anneville with its overhanging "Blessed Tree" is a prominent landmark on the road from Corofin to Killinaboy.
The modern civil parish of Killinaboy extends from the river Fergus at Corofin northwards to Leamaneh castle and the well-known triple-ramparted fort of Caher-commaun on the Burren plateau. Its eastern boundary is loosely defined by the distinctive rock terraces of Mullaghmore overlooking the Burren National Park and the Gort lowlands to the east.
Although its early history is obscure, the old monastic church of Killinaboy probably owes its origins to the Clann Ifernain, one of the migrant tribes of the Ui Fidgeinte, a branch of the Eoghanacht of Aine (now Knockainey, Co.Limerick), who settled in mid-Clare before the rise to power of the Dal Cais.(3) Their tribal names e.g. Clann Ifernain, Cineal Baoith, Ui Fearmaic, Ui Cormaic, Ui Flaithri, etc., by association, came to be applied to the districts which they colonised; and in the church organization in the medieval period the parish boundaries, to a large extent, were based on these old tribal divisions. This can be inferred from the fact that in the published Calendar of Papal Letters the parishes frequently appear under their old territorial names right down to the seventeenth century. Killinaboy and Kilnamona, for instance, are found at various times in the Calendar under the names "Clandyfernane" (Clann Ifernain) and "Kinelwye" (Cineal Baoith) respectively after the familes who, in tribal times, had a proprietorial interest in these two ancient churches.(4) All this points to the fact that these migrant Eoghanacht clans were settled in mid-Clare for several centuries before the Dalcassian expansion had spread westwards across the Fergus; and it has even been suggested that an Eoghanacht chiefdom, known as Eoghanacht Arann, or Eoghanacht Ninussa, may have been based on Cahercommaun in Killinaboy as early as the eight century.'5' Cahercommaun is said to have taken its name from Celechair Mac Commain who belonged to the Ui Cormaic, a powerful branch of the Ui Fidgeinte. He was brother of bishop Colman Mac Commain who died in Aran in 731 and whose fame as a bishop in Munster is celebrated in a poem preserved in the Leabhar Breach
The rise to power of the Dal Cais in the eastern part of

Clare in the tenth century was to bring about a great change in the political map of the county. Under their ruling chiefs, the Ui Bhriain, the Dalcassian expansion was progressed with vigour and by the medieval period the Ui Fidgeinte clans in central Clare had been subordinated by their Dalcassian overlords, even to the extent that their separate dynastic and genealogical histories had become confused.
One cultural trait, however, that distinguished the Ui Fidgeinte clans from their Dalcassian overlords was their faithfulness to the cult of the saint whose name is concealed in the element"-inaboy" of Killinaboy and Toburinaboy, a tribal devotion which they took with them on their migration to mid-Clare. Remarkable as it seems, traces of this cult survive, at least vestigially, to this day. They are detectable in the toponomy of the districts which they colonised and in the numerous holy wells dedicated to Inghin Bhaoith. These provide us with valuable clues to the courses of the various tribal migrations.
Inghin Bhaoith
A perusal of the Ordnance Survey 'Name Books' of the 1840s will reveal at least seventeen holy wells dedicated to Inghin Bhaoith located mainly in the central parts of Clare. As already stated, three of them occur in the parish of Killinaboy itself: the others are located in the parishes of Kilkeedy, Inchicronan, Templemaley, Doora, Quin, Kilnamona, Dysert, Kilmurry-Ibrickane, Kilfarboy, I Kilshanny and Kilcorney. They are given various
designations such as Tobarinnaboy', Tobarnahineenaboy', Tobar an Iarainn Baye' (Dysert parish), or just simply 'Tobarineen', a name still applied by the local people to wells in the parishes of Doora and Inchicronan*7'. Knockenaboy and Clochenaboy, too, are names that appear from time to time in O' Brien rentals of Corofin and Clarecastle. I have suggested elsewhere that Clochenaboy, in a garbled form, may be the 'Kimony' [Cill Innawee?](8) which is mentioned in the endowment to the Augustinian Canons of Clareabbey in 1189.W In any case an older church stood on the site now occupied by the abbey; and there are wells dedicated to Inghin Bhaoith in the adjoining parishes of Doora and Quin and in the nearby parish of Templemaley.
In the parish of Kileedy, barony of Glenquin, in the western part of Co. Limerick, there is an old church now called Glenmore but which was once known as Teampulinnaboy.'10' Westropp states that it was dedicated to "the daughter of Bhaoith, patroness of Killinaboy" whom he thought was of the sixth century. In the same district as Teampullinnaboy are the remains of another ancient church named Killachtin, after St.Lachtin, a great saint of the Ui Fidgeinte, whose principal foundation was at Bealach Feabrath (Ballyhoura) on the Cork-Limerick border. St. Lachtin and Inghin Bhaoith are both commemorated by holy wells in the parishes of Kilnamona, Templemaley and Kilfarboy. But what is of greater significance is the fact that a reliquary containing St.Laichtin's arm was preserved in the church at Kilnamona until the sixteenth century when it was removed to Lislachtin in Kerry.'11' A possibility that suggests itself here is that the Ui Fidgeinte district south of the Shannon was the fountain head of the cult of Inghin Bhaoith and, to a lesser extent, of St. Lachtin; and that the Ui Chormaic and Ui Fearmaic tribes, when forced out of their homeland, brought with them their traditional devotions to their adopted territories and continued to dedicate churches and wells to their patron saints.
The church at Killinaboy, as the name implies, is ascribed to Inghin Bhaoith, whose feast, according to Canon Dwyer, was celebrated on 29 December.*12) Eugene O'Curry states that the name Innawee (sometimes Ennawee) was a favourite name for girls in the parish until well into the nineteenth century'13' The location of the well-known Tau Cross of Killinaboy was described to the Ordnance Surveyors in 1839 as Slieveinnawee;'14' but this name is now forgotten, and the general area is known

today as Roughan Hill. Despite the widespread devotion which the saint attracted, she remains an obscure figure; and even the etymological derivation of the name Inghin Bhaoith is far from certain. Fr. Gaynor has suggested that groups of women who were designated "Ingena" figured prominently in the early church; and he quotes an entry from The Book of Bally mote which mentions "Maincfn Luimnigh (St. Mainchin) agus a h-ingena filed I Cill na n-ingen" S{5) Following this analogy he states that the name Killinaboy could be taken to mean a church serving a community of pious women (nuns) in the territory of the Cineal Bhaoith or a branch of that tribe. As against that, however, there is an entry in the Leabhar Ui Maine, which identifies Inghin Bhaoith as Findclu, and this seems to be corroborated by a papal mandate issued in 1445 which refers to the rectory (parochial tithe) of Killinaboy as Rectoria Sanctae Fyndeluae de Clan-dyfernan.('6) "Clan-dyfernan" is a garbled version of Clann Ifernain (descendants of Ifernain), who, as we have already seen, were closely connected with the church at Killinaboy. But nothing else is known of this 'St. Findclu' (Fyndeluae?) unless the name be a misreading of "Finchua", another great saint of the Ui Fidgeinte who flourished on the borders of Cork and Limerick and whose obit is given by the Four Masters under the year 664 AD. But this is just speculation.
Notwithstanding the problems that arise in relation to the pedigree of its patron saint, however, the church at Killinaboy, with its round tower and extensive termon lands, seems to have been an important religious centre in monastic Clare. In the church reforms of the medieval
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period it was absorbed into the diocesan system as a parish church and the associated termon lands became the nucleus of the modern parish of Killinaboy in the newly-formed diocese of Killaloe. The formal parish of Killinaboy appears in history for the first time in the Ecclesiastical Taxation of 1302-07, the oldest extant list of diocesan parishes.
Clan Ifernain
Clan Ifernain was the generic name for the Ui Chuinn (O'Quins). They are sometimes called Clan Ifernain and Nechtain, from Nechtan which appears as a personal name in the genealogies of the Ui Fidgeinte.(I7) The tribal lands of the Ui Chuinn are identified by a fifteenth-century topographical poem from the pen of Giolla Na Naomh O hUidhrm:
To O'Quin of the guileless heart [belongs] The extensive Muintir Ifernain The fertile land of that noble scion Is at the festive Corofin
In monastic times the Clann Ifernain had custodial care of the church and relics of Killinaboy as coarbs of Inghin Bhaoith, and even as late as the mid-seventeenth century members of this family were still pressing their claim to the churchlands of Killinaboy on the Protestant bishop of Killaloe, Edward Worths8)
Aside from their association with the church at Killinaboy, the Clan Ifernain at various times seem to have played a conspicuous role in the polity of ancient Thomond. The Annals of the Four Masters mentions Nial O'Quin, a rearguardsman of Brian Boru, who fell at Clontarf in 1014. Again, over a century later in 1151, we hear of five O'Quin chieftains killed fighting on the side of Muircheartach O'Brien, king of Thomond, at the battle of Moinmore, near Emily, in Co.Tipperary. At that period the O'Quins would appear to have held sway over a greater portion of Ui Fearmaic than that represented by the present civil parish of Killinaboy. There is at least oblique evidence that the family at one time held an ancient coarbship in Dysert parish, probably connected with the old foundation known as Mainistir Na Srutha Duibhe (i.e. of the dark stream) at Kileenan, near the present Catholic Church. The name Kileenan may have derived from Cill Inghin-[Bhaoith], patron of Killinaboy.(19) In any case, there is a holy well dedicated to Inghin Bhaoith in the townland of Kileenan, and another in the nearby townland of Magowna. That Kileenan was ancient monastic land there can be no doubt as it is specifically mentioned in the Compossicion Booke of Conought, where its two quarters
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are clearly set out as bishop's land.<2°) Although there is no direct evidence to connect the O'Quins with this ancient foundation, there remains the curious fact that the so-called Dysert crozier, now in the national museum, was still in the possession of the last surviving descendant of the O'Quin coarbs of Inghin Bhaoith when it was acquired by George Petrie for the Royal Irish Academy in the 1840s.<21>
Inchiquin
The barony of Inchiquin takes its name from O'Quin's Island (Inis Ui Chuinn) on lake Inchiquin, near Corofin. A crannog discovered on this island in the 1890s may have been a former stronghold of the O'Quins.(22) The presence of a later O'Brien castle on the same island, however, proclaims the eclipse of the O'Quin hegemony by their more powerful Dalcassian overlords. In any event after the medieval period the O'Quins cut little figure in the military or political history of the district; and this is emphasised by the fact that, in a list of strongholds in Clare in 1580, the family hadn't a single castle to its name. They continued to figure prominently, however, as clergy in the Killaloe diocese right down to modern times, but particularly in the fifteenth century when the family had strong connections with the Augustinian foundations at Clareabbey and Inchicronan.(23) In a petition to Rome in 1445 seeking to be appointed to a local church benefice Donald O'Quin left the Curia in no doubt that his friends "were still powerful in these parts".(24> Some members of the O'Quins later migrated to Limerick where a branch of the family is said to have merged with the family of the Earls of Dunraven at Adare.'25'
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Killinaboy church and stump of round tower.
The Church
"Here was a parish church of great veneration called Killinabv
(sic) which in the time of the Romish Government [was] a
great termon or sanctuary, so that no man that came to that
church or church yard, be his crime what it would, could not
be touched there".
-Robert Downing in William Molyneux's Survey of Co. Clare,
1682.
The modern road from Corofin to Leamaneh runs but a few metres from the church and fragment of the round tower at Killinaboy and has obviously encroached upon the earlier monastic site. Some indefinite traces of an earlier building can be seen to the west of this road, and a bullaun (i.e. a stone basin) was found some years ago in the same area built into a modern fence. The present church has been heavily rebuilt over the years and much of what is visible today is probably no older than about the fifteenth century. The stones forming the double-armed cross and
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the antae, or projecting walls, at the angles of the west gable, however, belong to an earlier church which Harbison, on stylistic grounds, says can scarcely be older than 1100 and probably belongs to about a century later/26)
The church is a plain oblong building approximately 19 metres long and 6 metres wide undivided by any chancel arch. The entrance is a round-headed door in the south wall some 4.3 metres from the western end over which is a prominent representation of the so-called sbeela-na-gig female figure/27' Near this door on the inside some fragments of Romanesque foliate carving were discovered in recent years when a portion of later plaster work fell away/28' Another low door on the north side near the east gable was said to be an entrance to the O'Quin tomb but, as it opens directly into the church, it is more likely to have led to a sacristy. Another feature worthy of notice is the window in the eastern gable which almost certainly can be assigned to the fifteenth century. A drawing made by O'Curry in 1839 shows a rare example of interlaced tracery from among about forty contemporary churches in the county.*29'
Much speculation surrounds the significance of Killinaboy's double-armed cross. Stylistically, the masonry of the cross belongs to an earlier period than the present church, and thus at one time it may have rested on the lintel of an earlier trabeate doorway in the west gable. Churches of the early Irish type, particularly those with the antae noticed above, usually had an inclined doorway in the western gable. If, in fact, that was the case, then we can only assume that the cross was carefully dismantled and re-inserted in the reconstructed gable, although it is noticeably off-centre in its new position. The cross is Byzantine in origin and it has been suggested that it belongs to a genre of crosses used in Europe from the second half of the eleventh century/30) And since such crosses were sometimes used as reliquaries, the cross of Killinaboy may have been erected to proclaim that the church contained a relic of the True Cross. The acquisition of a relic of the True Cross would almost certainly have caused the church to become a place of pilgrimage in medieval times, a fact which might explain the curious inclusion of Killinaboy (accompanied by the symbol for a church) in the small number of Thomond placenames in Mercator's sixteenth century map of Ireland. It might also explain Killinaboy's growth into an important settlement in late medieval times as is evidenced by the occasional references to the 'town and lands of Killinaboy'/31)
In 1573 the church at Killinaboy came under attack during one of the internal conflicts of the O'Briens:

Teige, son of Conor [O'Brien] ... in order to wreak vengeance upon Teige, the son of Murrough, gathered the soldiers etc ... All these forces met together at a place called Ath na gCabog, where the river Fergus mingles with the sea. From thence they marched through the eastern part of the territory of Ui Cormac and the confines of UI Fearmaic ... they proceeded over the stone road of Corofin, by Bothar na Mac Ri; and some of their people carried utensils and spoils out of the church of CillTnghine-Bhaoith; but this profanation of the church of the saint boded no triumph or success to the Dal Cais/32'
In 1599 and again in 1600 the church was the centre of further turmoil when Killinaboy became the mustering point for the forces of Red Hugh O'Donnell on his maurading incursions into Thomond.
The next glimpse we get of the church in post-Reformation times is found in the Royal Visitation of the diocese of Killaloe in 1615. It was then in ruins ... 'church and chancel down'/33' It is clear that the Reformation had made little headway in the district at that time for the vicar, Bartholomew White, who is described as a native, was not serving cure (i.e. pastoral ministry). He also had charge of the parishes of Rath and Dysert but his appointment must be regarded as something of a sinecure. Seven years later, however, in 1622 White is shown as holding both the rectory and vicarage of Killinaboy (i.e the rector's and vicar's share of the tithe) and was then exercising cure/34' Protestant clergy continued to be appointed throughout the remainder of the century, Neptune Blood in 1633 and John Jones in 1693. A small Protestant population may be inferred, however, from the fact that both ministers appear to have had charge also of the parishes of Rath, Dysert and Kilkeedy.
The church is mentioned again in 1712 in a return prepared by Thomas Blood, churchwarden for the parishes of Killinaboy, Rath and Kilkeedy which then formed the Protestant union. The return is in effect a list of defaulters in Rath and Killinaboy who had failed to pay a tax levied on them for repairs to the church costing £74/35' Notwithstanding this renovation it appears that the church went into decline shortly afterwards for a new Protestant church - St.Catherine's - was opened at Corofin in 1718/36'
During a period of relaxation of the Penal Laws against Catholic worship in the 1720s a 'Mass-House', or chapel, was built at Killinaboy in the vicinity of the old church/37' Over a hundred years later (1839) it was described by the ordnance surveyors as a 'miserable thatched house 74 feet long and 23 feet wide'. It could accommodate about 250 persons. On weekdays a daily school was held in it/38' When replaced by a new church in the 1840s it was used as
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a national school until 1884. In that year it was demolished and replaced by a new school on the same site.
The stump of the round tower, some four-and-a-half metres high and without any trace of a door or window, stands about sixteen metres to the north of the church. When seen by O'Curry in 1839 he thought the south side looked as if had been battered with cannon. His opinion is rein​forced by a local tradition which holds that the entire church except the west gable was battered down by Cromwell's forces and subsequently rebuilt by the O'Briens of Inchiquin.
The church contains some interesting sepulchral monu​ments'39) including the elabor​ately decorated tomb of Conor O'Flanagan of Crossard, who was prominent in the Catholic uprising in  1641.  It bears  a
crucmxion scene in reliel and the date 1644 followed by the inscription: "Under these carved marble stones lieth Connor O'Flanagan's body and bones, which monument was made by Anabel, his wife. Orate pro eis laus Deo". Another tomb of the O'Hare family of Killinaboy contains, amongst others, the remains of Rev. Patrick O'Hare, one time Vicar General of the Protestant diocese of Cashel who died in 1816.<40> A gravestone marking the resting place of the Blood family is also of interest; it carries a representation of Neptune, the ancient sea god, armed with his fish spear, or trident.
In the south-western corner of the cemetery surrounding the church is a curious recumbent grave slab with an incised representation of a tau-shaped crozier with a bell below it. The crozier has three knops or roundels on the shaft, which resemble the knops on the shrines or casing around the Dysert and Rath croziers in the National Museum. Professor Rynne has suggested that the large size of the slab and the shape of the accompanying bell would seem to justify its attribution to the thirteenth or fourteenth century.'41' The slab could well mark the grave of the coarb family of Killinaboy.

The Termon Lands
The Compossicion Booke of Conougbt shows four quarters of land in Killinaboy as belonging to the bishop of Killaloe in 1585. This represents the monastic lands of Killinaboy for which the old coarb families paid an ecclesiastical rent called a chiefrie to the bishop. However, when bishop Edward Worth, the Protestant bishop, was appointed to Killaloe in 1660 he protested that he was entitled to an extra quarter as five quarters were returned 'by six sworn men to be bishop's land' in the Strafford Survey of the 1630s.<42> He complained that the O'Quins, with the backing of Lord Inchiquin, had 'usurped' the missing quarter by concealing certain lands from the surveyors. The situation was further confused by careless leasing arrangements on the part of the bishop's predecessors. All this had led to wrangling between rival claimants and sometimes to litigation at the Common Pleas. The case of the missing quarter of land arose from a deception perpetrated over a long period on his predecessors, which he explains as follows:
'The lands of Killinaboy were antiently divided into five portions called cooleavnagh, derived from "Columna", a column or portion, each less than a quarter. And that is the reason why in the Composition Book Killenaboy is computed at 4 qrs., noted in Stafford's survey as 5 qrs.. When bishop Jones found the living and recovered the lands, according to the Composition Book, under the composition of 4 quarters, they set him forth as but 4 callownaglias and on that pretence laid claim to the 4th, as if every callownaglia had been the 4th. part of a quarter. And the bishop challenging but 4 qrs., had right to no more than 16 callownaglias, whereas the bishop's right is to the whole, and the releases are of the whole. This deceit was practiced in Dean Blood's remembrance.'
In the Book of Survey and Distribution the churchlands are shown as five quarters viz. Munnenegatt alias Cloonkillteen or Cloonakill (Garrycloon?), Munnenuleene and Killinaboy. This latter contained four quarters and included land held in common by the bishop's tenants (i.e 'the Commons'). There was also a 'parcelP called Moherroe [Dromoher?] belonging to the half-quarter of Crosseaghter (Cros Iochtar i.e. Elmvale). The lands are variously described as arable, pasture, rocky/pasture etc. and further classified as 'profitable' and 'unprofitable' under each heading. The whole was estimated to be eight hundred acres approximately.
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The Tau Cross of Killinaboy.
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